IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 71,338

THIRD DISTRICT CASE NO. 86-3040

FIRTH S. SPIEGEL, M.D.; RICHARD K. EBKEN, M.D.; and SPIEGEL AND EBKEN, M.D., P.A.,

Petitioners/Defendants SID J. WHITE

vs.

JAN 11 1988

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

BUD PRATT WILLIAMS,

Respondent/Plaintiff

Deputy Clerk

PETITIONERS BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SHELLEY H. LEINICKE, ESQUIRE WICKER, SMITH, BLOMQVIST, TUTAN, O'HARA, McCOY, GRAHAM & LANE P. O. Drawer 14460 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (305) 467-6405

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Williams, the prevailing party in a medical malpractice case, was awarded \$950,000 by the jury. (R. 441) Following set off of the \$100,000 proceeds of a settlement with certain defendants and \$102,762 in collateral source benefits, an amended final judgment was entered in the amount of \$747,238. (R. 467-468) Post-trial, Williams filed a motion for attorney's fees pursuant to \$768.56, Florida Statutes (1981) and was awarded \$206,000. (R. 515) Costs totalling \$5,116.50 were also awarded. (R. 461)

The final judgment was well in excess of Spiegel's primary insurance limits of \$300,000 (\$100,000 limits for each of the three petitioners). Spiegel's insurance carrier, St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company ("St. Paul") paid Williams \$300,000 plus taxable costs and accrued interest on the final judgment. Following this payment, the trial court entered an order limiting judgment against Spiegel to the amounts paid pursuant to the

Plaintiff/Respondent Bud Pratt Williams will be referred to as "Williams"

Defendants/Petitioners Firth S. Spiegel, M.D., Richard K. Ebken, M.D. and Spiegel and Ebken, M.D., P.A. will be referred to as "Spiegel"

The Symbol "R" refers to the Record on Appeal
The Symbol "A" refers to Petitioners' Appendix

All emphasis is added unless noted to be in the original

provisions of §768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1981). (R. 445-446, 470-472) It should also be noted that Spiegel was a member of the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund and had coverage through the Fund for amounts in excess of his primary insurance Limit. 1

In addition to liability insurance coverage, Spiegel's insurance policy with St. Paul provided for payment of Spiegel's defense costs. The policy did not include any coverage or obligation to pay an adversary's attorney's fees. The policy clearly stated:

Additional Benefits. All of the following are in addition to the limits of your coverage: • • We'll pay all costs of defending a suit, including interest on that part of any judgment that doesn't exceed the limits of your coverage (A.7)

Williams objected to the limitation of the judgment and asserted that the insurance company's obligation under this policy to pay "all costs of <u>defending</u> a suit" required Spiegel's carrier to pay Williams' statutory attorney's fees as a further prerequisite to the limiting of the judgment.

On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal agreed with Williams' contention and reversed the trial court's decision.

(A.9) This petition followed. In the interim, pursuant to the mandate of the Third District Court of Appeal, the trial court entered a third amended final judgment (amending the final

¹The Florida Patient's Compensation Fund initially received a summary judgment grounded on the Statute of Limitations. (R. 467) This was reversed on appeal in the consolidated companion case No. 86-1579, and the claim against is now set for trial.

judgment to include Williams' trial attorney's fees of \$206,000) and also entered a judgment for attorney's fees awarding Williams \$58,600 in appellate attorney's fees.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida has always acknowledged the distinction between Litigation costs and costs of defense. The Third District's decision breaks with this precedent and improperly holds that an insurance company's contractual obligation to pay its insured's lefense costs also requires the carrier to pay the opposing party's attorney's fees.

This court has twice decided that attorney's fee which are recoverable by statute in a medical malpractice case are a Litigation cost; this court has never held that payment of a plaintiffs attorney's fees should be viewed as a cost of defense. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985); Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc, 514 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1987). This court's holdings are in accordance with the provisions of Florida Statute 8768.54 (2)(b).

It is well settled that where language of a contract is clear and unambiguous, the terms will be accorded their natural meaning. Interpretation is required only where an ambiguity appears in the policy provisions. Under both settled law and common usage, "defense costs" does not include a plaintiff's attorney's fees. The Third District failed to follow the governing law when it decided to expand the coverage afforded under Spiegel's insurance policy to include payment of an opponent's attorney's fees.

The Third District's decision to require Spiegel's primary insurance carrier to pay an opponent's attorney's fees totally ignores the fact that Spiegel was fully covered by the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund for amounts in excess of his \$100,000 primary limits. The governing statutes clearly provide that where there is coverage by the Patient's Compensation Fund or an excess insurance company, the obligation to pay the prevailing plaintiff's statutory attorney's fees must be borne by the Patient's Compensation Fund or the excess carrier.

ISSUE

I. WHETHER, UNDER SETTLED LAW, PUBLIC POLICY,
AND THE GOVERNING LEGISLATION, A PRIMARY
INSURANCE CARRIER'S OBLIGATION TO PAY "COSTS
OF DEFENSE" EXCLUDES PAYMENT OF AN OPPOSING
PARTY'S STATUTORILY IMPOSED ATTORNEY'S FEES

ARGUMENT

- I. UNDER SETTLED LAW, PUBLIC POLICY, AND THE GOVERNING LEGISLATION, A PRIMARY INSUR NCE CARRIER'S OBLIGATION TO PAY "COSTS OF DEFENSE" EXCLUDES PAYMENT OF AN OPPOSING PARTY'S STATUTORILY IMPOSED ATTORNEY'S FEES
- A. Settled law acknowledges a distinction between defense costs and litigation expenses

The Florida courts have long acknowledged the important distinction between the costs of defending a suit and the litigation costs which an unsuccessful party must bear. More than sixty years ago, this court held that attorney's fees recoverable by statute are costs only if so defined by the statutes. In the absence of such a statutory definition, attorney's fees are considered an element of damages. State ex rel. Royal Insurance Co. v. Barrs, 87 Fla. 168, 99 So. 668 (Fla. 1924).

Spiegel readily acknowledges that, in addition to paying its primary insurance limits of \$300,000, his carrier has also paid Williams' taxable trial costs. This payment neither affects Spiegel's position nor forms any support for Williams' assertion that Spiegel's carrier should also pay Williams' attorney's fees. Taxable costs are expenses of litigation that, under the American rule, have long been charged to a losing defendant as a part of cost of unsuccessfully defending a suit. Williams' statutorily awarded attorney's fees do not fall into this category - and are readily distinguishable - because they are not defined as costs in the statute and/or they are an element of his damages.

While the terms "fees" and "costs" are sometimes (albeit erroneously) used interchangeably, they are not synonymous. When used precisely, the term "fees" applies to the items chargeable by law between the officer or witness and the party whom he serves, "costs" refer to one's expenditures during litigation. 20 Am.Jur. 2d "Costs" §1. The terms "costs" or "expenses" as used in a statute are not generally considered to include attorney's fees. 20 Am.Jr. 2d "Costs" §72.

"Costs" have been defined by several foreign jurisdictions to include payment of an opposing party's attorney's fees. The Delaware courts have stated repeatedly that because common usage and the ordinary meaning of the word "costs" does not include counsel fees of a successful litigant, the term "costs" as used in a Delaware statute could not be construed to include the prevailing party's attorney's fees. In re Dougherty's Will, 114

A. 2d 661, 663 (Del. 1955). See also: J.J. White, Inc. v. Metropolitan Merchandise Mart, Del. Super 107 A.2d 892.

The Supreme Court of Montana has also stated that attorney's fees cannot be included under statutory provisions for costs in ordinary litigation because "they are not in any proper sense a part of the costs of a case". Kinter v. Harr, 408 P.2d 487 (Mont.1965).

The Third District itself has recognized the difference between "costs" and "fees". In the case of <u>Dade County v.</u> Strauss, 246 So.2d 137 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1971), the court stated:

In American Jurisprudence, there is a well settled distinction between "costs" (expenses) and "attorney's fees"

(compensation for services rendered). "Costs and fees" are altogether different in their nature generally. The one is in allowance to a party of expenses incurred in the successful transaction or defense of a suit. The other [fees] is compensation to an officer for services rendered in the process of the cause. <u>Dade County V. Strauss</u>, supra at 141.

Other Florida decisions have reiterated the difference and distinctions between "costs" and attorney's fees. See: Harris v. Richard N. Groves Realty, Inc., 315 So.2d 528 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975);

3akers Multiple Line Insurance Co. v. Blanton, 352 So.2d 81 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) ("Costs" cannot be expanded to include attorney's fees).

Other jurisdictions facing this same issue have construed the term "costs" in accordance with its general meaning and have not judicially expanded its definition to include attorney's fees. See, for example, Sisk v. Sanditen Investments Ltd., 662 P. 2d 317 (Okla. App. 1983) (The plain usage of the word "costs" in a statute providing the award thereof is not ordinarily understood to include attorney's fees: plain words of the statute do not provide for the inclusion of attorney's fees as ordinary costs, and we are not free to expand their meaning by construction to include attorney's fees).

The case should be controlled by this court's recent decision in <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc</u>, 514 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1987) which quashed the Second District's decision of <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Maurer</u>, 493 So.2d 510 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986). The Third District's decision in the instant case

is based upon the same assertions raised in <u>Maurer</u> which were expressly rejected by this court. In <u>Maurer</u>, the trial court taxed attorney's fees jointly and severally against the doctor, hospital and the Patient's Compensation Fund. The Second District affirmed this imposition of attorney's fees against the doctors and hospital but <u>specifically rejected the plaintiff's assertion that such fees should be treated as costs.</u> This Court held that the doctor and the hospital were not liable for payment of the plaintiff's attorney's fees because the Patient's Compensation Fund had a statutory mandate to satisfy this obligation pursuant to the provisions of §768.54(2)(b), Florida Statute (1981).

Spiegel's attorney's fees are a <u>litigation</u> cost, and while they arise out of the successful prosecution of his medical malpractice claim, by their very nature they are not a <u>defense</u> cost. As this court stated in the Rowe case:

In certain causes of action, attorney's fees historically have been considered part of litigation costs and the award of these costs is intended not only to discourage meritless claims, but also to make the prevailing plaintiff or defendant whole. Id. at 1149.

Although the <u>Rowe</u> decision acknowledges that, by statute, attorney's fees are taxable as litigation costs in more than seventy situations, nothing in that decision suggests such a statute transforms a cost of litigation into a cost of defense.

This court has clarified and reiterated its decision in Rowe in the case of Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc, 514 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1987). As this court stated in Bouchoc:

It is unreasonable to believe that the legislature would have intended that the health care providers be held responsible for the amount of attorney's fees over and above the \$100,000 when the statute contemplates that the Fund would pay all judgments in excess of \$100,000. Id. at 393

Contrary to the settled law, the Third District has held that even though an insured and insurer enter into an insurance coverage which contemplates that the Florida Patient's agreement Compensation Fund will cover all claims beyond \$100,000, that an insuring agreement for payment of "defense costs" by the primary carrier includes the payment of a plaintiff's attorney's fees. Under the Bouchoc decision, plaintiff's attorney's fees are properly the obligation of the Fund. There is nothing in the Spiegel's insurance policy, or any other part of the record, to suggest that St. Paul's contractual insuring agreement to pay Spiegel's defense cost was intended to assume the Fund's obligation to pay litigation costs such as a plaintiff's attorney's fees.

B. Statutory attorney's fees are considered an element of the plaintiff's damages.

In addition to the cases acknowledging that an award of attorney's fees is a statutory litigation cost rather than a cost of defense, a number of decisions have held that where attorney's fees are recoverable by statute, they are to be considered an

element of the plaintiff's damages. <u>Florida Patient's</u>

<u>Compensation Fund v. Miller</u>, 436 So.2d 932, 933 (Fla. 3rd DCA

1983) ("The trial court's conclusion that an indemnitee is entitled to recover reasonable attorney's fees as a part of its damages is buttressed by a substantial body of Florida law")

In the case of Prudential Insurance Co. v. Lamm, 218 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969), the court determined that attorney's fees awarded pursuant to 5627.0127 were an element of the plaintiff's damages. In reaching this conclusion, the Third District relied upon a prior decision of this court and noted that fees would be regarded as costs only if this was specified in the governing statute: "Our Supreme Court held that attorney's fees recoverable by statute are regarded as "costs" only when made so by statute", supra, at 220. Similarly, 5768.56, Florida Statutes, does not provide that fees are to be considered as costs; therefore any attorney's fee award must be regarded as damages. See also: First National Insurance Co. of America v. Devine, 211 So.2d 587 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1968) (5627.1027 Fees are an element of Damages); Preuss v. U.S. Fire Insurance Co., 414 So.2d 249 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (Where insurance carrier wrongfully failed to defend, attorney's fees were an element of damages);

C. The terms of this unambiguous insurance policy must be given their plain meaning.

It is Hornbook law that language of a clear and unambiguous contract will be given its natural meaning. 30 Fla. Jur. 2d "Insurance" 5400. It is also well settled that terms of an

insurance policy should be given their common, everyday meaning as understood by the average man. Sanz v. Reserve Insurance Co. of Chicago, Illinois, 172 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1965); Security Insurance Co. of Hartford v. Commercial Equipment Corp. 399 So.2d 31 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Fontainebleau Hotel Corp. v. United Filigree Corp., 298 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974). The terms of an insurance policy cannot be construed in favor of the insured unless those terms cannot be clearly ascertained by ordinary rules of construction. Beasley v. Wolf, 151 So.2d 679 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1963); Valdes v. Prudential Mutual Casualty Co., 207 So.2d 312 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968).

Terms of an unambiguous insurance policy cannot be expanded or reduced by judicial construction because the court cannot make a new contract for the parties. Prudential Insurance Co. v. Wynn, 398 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Oceanus Mutual Underwriting Association v. Fuentes, 456 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984). The courts may not rewrite a contract of insurance nor give an added meaning to a plainly written policy. The fact that analysis is necessary to fully understand the policy provisions does not mean the contract is ambiguous. Hess v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 458 So.2d 71 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984).

In the instant case, the Third District has created a new definition of the word "costs" which expand Spiegel's policy to include coverage for over a quarter million dollars in plaintiff's attorney's fees. The District Court's action is contrary to the clear terms of the insurance policy and the settled law because

these attorney's fees should be viewed as either a statutory litigation expense or an item of the plaintiff's damages; these fees should not be viewed as a defense cost. The District Court did not find the term "costs" to be ambiguous; rather the court judicially expanded the unambiguous coverage for "costs of defense" to include the plaintiff's attorney's fees.

Insurance contracts should receive a construction which is practical, and reasonable, and just. The Third District has failed to follow the case law which holds that terms of an insurance policy must be construed to promote a reasonable, practical, and sensible interpretation consistent with the parties' intent. Peerless Ins. Co. v. Sun Line Helicopters, Inc., 180 So.2d 364 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1965); U.S. Fire Insurance Co. v. Pruess, 394 So. 2d 468 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Instead, the Third District has chosen to expand the coverage available under the primary insurance policy (even in the face of coverage through the Patient's Compensation Fund) in spite of the unambiguous use of the term "costs of defense". This decision is unsupportable by the case law because the use of the word "costs" in standard insurance policies has never been expanded to include attorney's fees.

D. The legislative intent of the governing statute requires attorney's fees to be paid by the Patient's Compensation Fund and/or an excess insurance carrier.

the Patient's Compensation Fund was created, legislature clearly intended for the Fund to pay statutory attorney's fees. The preamble to 5768.56, Florida Statutes, specifically stated that the purpose of the attorney's fee statute was to prevent the unnecessary and frivolous litigation of medical malpractice claims. The statute which created the Patient's Compensation Fund specifically provides that the Fund will pay $\S768.54(3)(f)(3)$. Further, that same statute attorney's fees. states that while a primary carrier with coverage limits of \$100,000 must defend the entire case, that carrier cannot negotiate a settlement which would require excess payments by the Patient's Cornpensation Fund. This is further evidence that the legislature intended for the Patient's Compensation Fund to be responsible for payment of statutory attorney's fees in a claim in excess of \$100,000 because only the Fund can settle a claim for more than \$100,000.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the trial court correctly determined that Spiegel was entitled to a limitation of the instant judgment upon the payment of the \$300,000 primary insurance limits. It is submitted that the District Court erred in stating that Spiegel's insurance policy provided coverage for an opposing party's attorney's statutorily awarded attorney's fees and that such sums must be paid as a condition to limiting Spiegel's liability. It is respectfully requested that the decision of the District Court be quashed, that the Third Amended Final Judgment and the Judgment for Attorney Fees be vacated and the Second Amended Final Judgment be reinstated.