IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. **71,338**

:

FIRTH S. SPIEGEL, M.D.; RICHARD : K. EBKEN, M.D.; and SPIEGEL AND EBKEN, M.D., P.A.,

> Petitioners, Defendants,

vs. : BUD PRATT WILLIAMS, : Respondent, Plaintiff. :

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDING TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Stewart, Tilghman, Fox & Bianchi Counsel for Bud Pratt Williams Biscayne Building, Suite 705 1900 Courthouse Tower **44** West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-6644

James C. Blecke Counsel for Bud Pratt Williams **19** West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-5999

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

St. Paul's statement of the case and facts is acceptable, except for its attempt to recast the terms of its insurance coverage - the pivotal fact in this case. St. Paul boldly states that its policy obligation to pay all costs of defending a suit "did not include any coverage or obligation to pay an adversary's attorney's fees." (St. Paul Brief, p. 2). And it proceeds to underline the word "defending" and then manipulate that into only "defense costs." St. Paul's unjustified underlineation of this one word in its statement of the case and facts best demonstrates St. Paul's myopic view of its own policy. Its misunderstanding of the issue in the district court is the false predicate upon which it argues in this Court.

A proper statement of the facts is that the policy provided coverage for "all costs of defending a suit..." ,There is no limitation of any nature on the phrase "all costs of defending a suit." There is no limitation to just "defense costs," and there is specifically no exclusion of court awarded attorney fees.

St. Paul's phrasing of the issue on review is also argumentative and therefore misleading. In its issue presented for review, St. Paul quotes the words "costs of defense." This quoted phrase does not appear in the St. Paul policy or in the relevant statutes or case law. The determinative phrase is St. Paul's promise to "pay all costs of defending a suit."

Although this Court has accepted the case on the merits, the fundamental issue remains whether the district court decision is in express and direct conflict with two decisions of this Court. The underlying issue is whether the Third District correctly applied the rules of insurance contract interpretation when it concluded that the st. Paul promise to "pay all costs of defending a suit" included payment of statutory attorney's fees charged against its insureds.

- 2 -

ISSUE

WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY INTER-PRETED THE ST. PAUL PROMISE TO "PAY ALL COSTS OF DEFENDING A SUIT" AS INCLUDING PAYMENT OF STATUTORY ATTORNEY'S FEES CHARGED AGAINST ITS INSUREDS.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before the Third District was one of interpretation of an insurance policy provision. As the district court found, the St. Paul policies provide for benefits in addition to payment of the limits of coverage, one of which is St. Paul's promise to "pay all costs of defending a suit." The term "costs" is nowhere defined in the policy. Nor is it in any way qualified or limited. The policy does, however, contain specific limitations or exclusions on other aspects of the coverage. For example, the policy specifies that (a) St. Paul won't defend the suit or pay any claim after the applicable limit of coverage has been used up, (b) St. Paul won't pay premiums for bonds valued in excess of the limit of coverage, and (c) St. Paul won't pay its insured's loss of earnings in excess of \$200 a day.

The St. Paul policy contains no exclusion for statutory attorney's fees charged against its insured. The Third District correctly concluded:

> Although 'costs' may be specifically defined to exclude attorney's fees, that was not done in the policies. Therefore, we see no reason to ascribe to the term anything other than its generic meaning. Indeed, because our supreme court has expressly held attorney's fees under Section 768.56 to be like any 'other costs of proceedings' and a 'part of litigation costs,' Florida Patient's Compen-

> > - 3 -

sation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145, 1149
(Fla. 1985), there is every good reason why
we should accord the term its more inclusive
meaning. [512 So.2d at 1081-2].

8

The district court decision falls squarely within the circumstance predicted by this Court in <u>Florida Patient's</u> <u>Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc</u>, 514 So.2d 52, 54 (Fla. 1987):

> Our holding should not be interpreted to preclude the payment of a prevailing party's attorney's fee award by a health care provider in every instance. To the extent that a plaintiff's attorneys' fees are payable under the provisions of the health care provider's liability insurance coverage, the Fund will not be responsible because section 768.54(2)(b) provides that the Fund shall only pay the excess over \$100,000 or the maximum limit of the underlying coverage, whichever is greater.

There is absolutely no conflict between the Third District decision and this Court's decisions in <u>Rowe</u> or <u>Bouchoc</u>.

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE ST. PAUL PROMISE TO "PAY ALL COSTS OF DEFENDING A SUIT" AS INCLUDING PAYMENT OF STATUTORY ATTORNEY'S FEES CHARGED AGAINST ITS INSUREDS.

In <u>Bouchoc</u>, this Court held that, as a general rule, the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, rather than the health care provider, would be liable to the plaintiff for statutorily awarded attorney's fees. The Court expressly created an exception, however, for those cases in which the plaintiff's attorney's fees are payable under the health care provider's underlying liability insurance policy. 514 So.2d at 54. The Court was referring to precisely this **type** of case.

All the Third District did in this case was to apply basic principles of insurance contract interpretation to the insurance policy in effect. At the time St. Paul sold this policy to Doctors Spiegel and Ebken, one of the costs which an unsuccessful litigant was required to bear in a medical malpractice case was the cost of paying the other side a reasonable attorney's fee. St. Paul chose to sell this policy with an unqualified and unlimited¹ promise to pay "all costs of defending a suit." The policy did not say St. Paul would pay "only defense costs" or "only litigation costs" or "only taxable costs" - it said "all costs."

St. Paul accuses the Third District of creating a new definition of the word "costs" (St. Paul Brief, p. 13). Nothing could be further from the truth. In reality, it is St. Paul, not the Third District, that is trying to create a new definition of the phrase "all costs" and thus rewrite its **policy.²** The Third District's opinion simply says "all costs" means "all costs." In

- 5 -

¹While the promise to pay "all costs" was unlimited, St. Paul did specifically limit some of its other obligations under the policy. For example, St. Paul provided it had no obligation to defend once its coverage had been exhausted, St. Paul had no obligation to provide bonds in excess of its coverage limits and St. Paul's obligation to pay for its insured's loss of earnings was limited to \$200 a day.

²Interestingly, St. Paul's effort to rewrite its policy to limit its obligation to just "defense **costs**" is inherently inconsistent with its concession and payment of other of plaintiff's "costs," i.e., plaintiff's taxable costs.

so holding, it created no conflict with any decision of this Court or any other appellate court of this state. The district court concluded there was no reason not to ascribe the general meaning to the term "all costs" and simply held, "all costs of defending a suit" include "costs of proceedings" and "litigation costs."

Highway Casualty Company v. Johnston, 104 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1958) illustrates by analogy the correctness of the district court opinion here. Highway Casualty Company issued a policy of liability insurance containing as a supplemental benefit the promise to pay "all interest accruing after entry of judgment until the Company has paid, tendered, or deposited in court such part of such judgment as does not exceed the limit of the Company's liability thereon." The insured suffered a \$40,000 judgment which was \$30,000 over the company's \$10,000 limit of liability. The carrier was called upon to pay interest on the full \$40,000 rather than the \$10,000 limit of liability.

Highway Casualty contended that "it does violence to common sense and logic to insist this insurance company should pay interest on the remaining \$30,000 of the judgment for the payment of which the plaintiff can look solely to the defendant" and that "it is less than logical to insist the insurance carrier should pay interest on this \$30,000 which it has not superseded, which it cannot be called upon by the plaintiff to pay, and over which it has absolutely no control, nor any obligation to pay." 104 \$0.2d at 735. Highway Casualty complained of a bad bargain.

- 6 -

In affirming the judgment against Highway Casualty, this Court noted the consequence but preferred instead to rule upon the fact that the insurance carrier by its own contract obligated itself to pay "<u>all</u> interest accruing after entry of judgment...." (emphasis by this Court). 104 So.2d at 736. As this Court aptly concluded, "This language does not appear to us to be ambiguous. However, if it were ambiguous it should be construed against the insurer." 104 So.2d at 736.³

Here, the same result obtained in the district court and should remain undisturbed in this Court. St. Paul by its own contract obligated itself to "pay - costs of defending a suit." (e.s.). This language is not ambiguous and, even if it were, any ambiguity must be construed against St. Paul.

In Highway Casualtv Company v. Johnston, as here, "the question now under discussion is purely and simply a matter of contract." In Highway Casualty Company v. Johnston, as here, "The casualty company could, of course, have limited its liability [for certain supplemental benefits], had it so desired, as it did on [other supplemental benefits]. This it did not do." 104 So.2d at 736.

In Highway Casualty Company v. Johnston, as here, "Had appellant entertained any doubt with reference to its obligation upon the subject under discussion it could have revised the

³When the contract is one for insurance, since it is the insurer that draws the contract, the general rule is that the ambiguities or equivocalities are read against the insurer and in favor of affording coverage. E.g. Stuyvesant Insurance Company .v. Butler, 314 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1975).

verbiage of its contract before the issuance thereof." In Highway Casualty Company V. Johnston, as here, "The dilemma in which the carrier finds itself appears to us to be of its own making." 104 So.2d at 736. Section 768.56 was passed in 1980, effective July 1, 1980. St. Paul could have rewritten its policy thereafter had it wished to do so.

Cases from other jurisdictions construing insurance coverage for costs all point to the same result. In Weckman v. <u>Houger</u>, 464 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1970), the policy under consideration obligated the carrier:

> [t]o pay in addition to the applicable limits of liability (a) all expenses incurred by the company, all costs taxed against the insurer in any such suit.... [464 P.2d at 529 n. 2].

An Alaskan rule of civil procedure provided for an award of attorneys fees to the prevailing party, and the issue was whether the carrier, with a policy liability limit of \$10,000, was required to pay an attorney's fee award of \$30,850 based upon a judgment of \$300,000. The court held the carrier responsible for the full fee award under the "all costs taxed" policy provision.

The court in <u>Weckman</u> relied upon its earlier decision in Liberty Nat'l. Ins. Co. v. <u>Eberhart</u>, 398 P.2d 997 (Alaska 1975), where a carrier was again held responsible for the full award of attorney's fees and costs under an all costs provision in its policy. In language reminiscent of this Court's decision

- 8 -

in Highwav Casualty Co. v. Johnston sunra the Alaskan court held:

> The words "all costs" mean just that. They do not admit of the interpretation urged by the appellant. If appellant had wished to contract to pay only proportionate share of the costs based upon the applicable limit of liability in the policy, it easily could have used appropriate language to achieve that result. [398 P.2d at 10001.

The policy in Eberhart, as here, did limit the postjudgment interest to that which accrued on so much of the judgment as did not exceed the policy limits. But the court held that this limitation had "no reference to and does not limit the company's obligation to pay costs." 398 P.2d at 1000.

That coverage for costs in defending an action truly extends to any kind of financial obligation imposed upon the insured is demonstrated by National Box Co. v. New Amsterdam <u>Casualty Co..</u>, **140** Miss. **257**, **105** So. **539** (1925). The policy at issue provided:

The expense incurred by the company in defending such suit, including costs, if any, taxed against the assured, will be borne by the company whether the verdict is for or against the assured, irrespective of the limits of liability expressed in the policy. [105 So. at 540].

The plaintiff obtained a verdict for policy limits, the defendant appealed, and the judgment was affirmed. Under Mississippi law at the time, a five percent penalty was imposed if a judgment was affirmed on appeal, and an issue arose as to whether this penalty was covered by the policy. Noting that the

- 9 -

insurance company could have escaped the penalty by paying the judgment in the first place, the court found coverage for this expense because "when [the company] undertook to appeal, it necessarily undertook to assume such expenses as legally resulted from that fact." 105 So. at 541.

The Mississippi court's rationale and decision in National Box Co. speak directly to the issue here. When St. Paul chose to litigate rather than settle this case when it had the opportunity to do so, its contractual agreement to pay "all costs of defending [the] suit" necessarily extended to the costs or expenses that legally resulted from its decision. Bud Williams' award of attorney's fees as the prevailing party was, by any test, just such a cost or expense.

At pages eleven and twelve of its brief, St. Paul has the audacity to argue that section 768.56 attorney's fees are In <u>Finkelstein</u> considered an element of the plaintiff's damages. v. North Broward Hospital District, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986), this Court held directly to the contrary. Section 768.56 attorney's fees are not part of the damages but are a "collateral and independent claim" taxable upon post-judgment motion as No reservation of jurisdiction in the final judgment is costs. necessary to award such costs. 484 So.2d at 1242-3. Section 768.56 attorney's fees are an incidental litigation cost or cost of proceedings recoverable by the prevailing party and covered by St. Paul's promise to pay all costs over and above the policy limit on damages.

- 10 -

St. Paul also cites numerous cases for the proposition that attorney's fees are usually not considered "taxable costs." The cases cited by St. Paul have no bearing on the issue before this Court. St. Paul did not agree to pay only "taxable" costs of defending, it agreed to pay "all costs." St. Paul's lengthy discussion of "taxable costs" is nothing more than an illdisguised attempt to distract this Court from the policy language and the true issue involved.

In any event, even if the question was whether plaintiff's statutory fees were a proper element of "costs," that issue was previously decided by this Court contrary to St. Paul's position in <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe</u>, 472 So.2d 1145, 1147-8 (Fla. 1985) wherein this Court determined that the payment of plaintiff's statutory attorney's fees was one of the costs of unsuccessfully defending a medical malpractice action.

<u>Rowe</u> was not breaking new ground in treating statutory attorney's fees as costs. As far back as 1934, the United States Supreme Court addressed this issue in <u>Life and Casualty Insurance</u> <u>Co. v. McCray</u>, 291 U.S. 566, 54 S.Ct. 482, 78 L.Ed. 987 (1934). In that case, the defendant challenged the constitutionality of a statute providing for payment of attorney's fees to the prevailing party. The Court found the statute to be constitutional and made the following observation:

> We assume in accordance with the assumption of the court below that payment was resisted in good faith and upon reasonable grounds. Even so, the unsuccessful defendant must pay the adversary's costs, and <u>costs in the</u> discretion of the lawmakers may include the

> > - 11 -

<u>fees of an attorney</u>. [291 U.S. at 569, 54 S.Ct. at 483; e.s.].

But attorney's fees under Section 768.56 need not be categorized as "taxable" costs to be recoverable from St. Paul under the supplemental benefit provision of its policy. As noted above, the payment of supplemental benefits is not limited to "taxable" costs, but to "all costs of defending a suit." "All costs" are inclusive of "taxable costs," not limited to "taxable costs." The issue correctly decided by the district court was whether "all costs of defending a suit" include "costs of proceedings" or "litigation costs," two terms used by this Court in <u>Rowe</u> to describe an award of attorney's fees to the prevailing party under Section 768.56.

St. Paul argues unpersuasively that a "cost of litigation" is not a "cost of defense," an argument newly conceived for this petition. No such distinction was argued below. Instead, St. Paul argued that section **768.56** attorney's fees were not a cost of litigation or a cost of proceedings, notwithstanding <u>Rowe</u>'s clear holding to the contrary.

In the district court St. Paul also tried to argue that costs of defense are limited to monies spent in defense of its insured, as opposed to monies paid to the plaintiff. Such a limiting definition falls flat, however, given St. Paul's concession that the policy provision of "all costs of defending a suit includes payment of the plaintiff's taxable costs - a payment to plaintiff. Attorney's fees under Section 768.56, like taxable costs and interest on the judgment, are recoverable by the plaintiff ancillary to his judgment on the merits of the claim. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc, 514 So.2d 52, 53 (Fla. 1987); Finkelstein v. North Broward Hospital District, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986). Interest, fees, and costs are all costs to the unsuccessful defendant and are subsumed within St. Paul's promise to "pay all costs of defending a suit."

CONCLUSION

The petition should be denied for lack of jurisdiction. In the alternative, the district court decision should be approved.

Stewart, Tilghman, Fox & Bianchi Counsel for Bud Pratt Williams 1900 Courthouse Tower 44 West/Flagler Street Miami,/Florida 33130 (305)/358-6644Stewart

James C. Blecke Counsel for Bud Pratt Williams Biscayne Building, Suite 705 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-5999

James Blecke с.